

By Doug Pyper, Allwell Uwazuruike

2 December 2024

A short introduction to equality law and policy



- 3 The Equality and Human Rights Commission
- 4 Equality policy

Image Credits

Attribution: Faces by geralt / image cropped. Licensed under Pixabay License – no attribution required.

Disclaimer

The Commons Library does not intend the information in our research publications and briefings to address the specific circumstances of any particular individual. We have published it to support the work of MPs. You should not rely upon it as legal or professional advice, or as a substitute for it. We do not accept any liability whatsoever for any errors, omissions or misstatements contained herein. You should consult a suitably qualified professional if you require specific advice or information. Read our briefing 'Legal help: where to go and how to pay' for further information about sources of legal advice and help. This information is provided subject to the conditions of the Open Parliament Licence.

Feedback

Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in these publicly available briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated to reflect subsequent changes.

If you have any comments on our briefings please email papers@parliament.uk. Please note that authors are not always able to engage in discussions with members of the public who express opinions about the content of our research, although we will carefully consider and correct any factual errors.

You can read our feedback and complaints policy and our editorial policy at <u>commonslibrary.parliament.uk</u>. If you have general questions about the work of the House of Commons email <u>hcenquiries@parliament.uk</u>.

Contents

Summary		4
1	Introduction	5
1.1	Protected characteristics	5
1.2	Scope of the Act	5
2	Key concepts	6
2.1	Direct and indirect discrimination	6
2.2	Discrimination arising from disability	6
2.3	Reasonable adjustments for disabled people	7
2.4	Harassment and victimisation	9
2.5	The Public Sector Equality Duty	10
3	The Equality and Human Rights Commission	12
3.1	EHRC duties	12
3.2	Powers	13
3.3	Accountability	13
3.4	Codes of practice	13
4	Equality policy	14
4.1	Women and Equalities Unit	14
4.2	The Disability Unit	16
4.3	Race Equality Unit	17

Summary

This briefing provides an overview of equality law, summarising the main concepts and the role of the Equality and Human Rights Commission.

The Equality Act 2010

The Equality Act 2010 consolidates most equality law into one Act. It prohibits conduct and creates duties in relation to 'protected characteristics'. There are nine protected characteristics, <u>listed in section 4 of the Act</u>, ranging from age through to sexual orientation.

The Act prohibits direct and indirect discrimination, and harassment and victimisation. It also prohibits discrimination in relation to something arising from a person's disability, and creates a duty to make reasonable adjustments for disabled people.

The Act applies in various scenarios, including at work, in education and in relation to services and public functions.

Public authorities are subject to a Public Sector Equality Duty. The Duty means they must 'have due regard' to equality considerations when exercising public functions.

Except for in Northern Ireland, which has its own equality legislation, equality law is largely reserved to the UK Parliament. The legal concepts in this briefing apply across England, Wales and Scotland.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission

The Equality and Human Rights Commission was established by the <u>Equality Act 2006</u>, with a duty to promote and encourage understanding of equality and human rights.

Individuals enforce their rights under the Equality Act 2010 before the courts. However, the Commission also has a range of powers at its disposal to enforce equality law at a more institutional level, and often strategically intervenes as a party to litigation if doing so could help develop equality law.

1 Introduction

The <u>Equality Act 2010</u> (the Act) repealed, replaced and consolidated the principles of earlier equality legislation. The Act codifies UK equality law, which is part domestic in origin, part derived from EU law.¹

1.1 Protected characteristics

The Act prohibits certain types of conduct and creates duties in relation to 'protected characteristics'. Section 2 of this briefing ('Key concepts') explains these prohibitions and duties. The below lists the protected characteristics. Each link goes to the section of the Act that defines the relevant characteristic:

- age
- <u>disability</u>
- gender reassignment
- marriage and civil partnership
- pregnancy and maternity (not defined in the Act)
- race
- religion or belief
- sex
- sexual orientation.

1.2 Scope of the Act

The prohibitions and duties in the Act only apply in specific contexts. This means that discrimination isn't prohibited generally – for example, in social situations – but in specific contexts, such as the workplace. Broadly, the Act prohibits discrimination in relation to:

- services and public functions
- work
- the management and disposal of premises
- education
- clubs and associations
- transport.

See Equality Act 2010, <u>Schedule 27</u>, which lists the repealed legislation

2 Key concepts

2.1 Direct and indirect discrimination

The Act identifies two types of discrimination: direct and indirect.

Direct discrimination occurs when a person, because of a protected characteristic, treats another less favourably than they would treat those without the characteristic.²

Indirect discrimination occurs when a person applies a 'provision, criterion or practice' which, although applied to persons with different protected characteristics (e.g., males and females) puts one group at a particular disadvantage (e.g., disadvantages females but not males).³ The Act's Explanatory Notes provide an example:

A woman is forced to leave her job because her employer operates a practice that staff must work in a shift pattern which she is unable to comply with because she needs to look after her children at particular times of day, and no allowances are made because of those needs. This would put women (who are shown to be more likely to be responsible for childcare) at a disadvantage, and the employer will have indirectly discriminated against the woman unless the practice can be justified.⁴

Indirect discrimination may be lawful if shown to be a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim.⁵

2.2 Discrimination arising from disability

In addition to direct and indirect discrimination, <u>section 15</u> of the Act states that a person discriminates against a disabled person if they treat the disabled person unfavourably because of 'something arising in consequence' of their disability. An Equality and Human Rights Commission Statutory Code Practice gives an example:

A mother seeks admission to a privately run nursery for her son who has Hirschsprung's disease, which means that he does not have full bowel

² Section 13

Section 19

Equality Act 2010 Explanatory Notes, para 81

⁵ Section 19(2)(d)

control. The nursery says that they cannot admit her son because he is not toilet trained and all the children at the nursery are. The refusal to admit the boy is not because of his disability itself; but he is being treated unfavourably because of something arising in consequence of his disability.⁶

This type of discrimination will be unlawful if the person cannot justify the treatment. However, it will not be unlawful discrimination if the person can show they did not know, and could not reasonably have been expected to know, about the disability. The Act's Explanatory Notes illustrate as follows:

The licensee of a pub refuses to serve a person who has cerebral palsy because she believes that he is drunk as he has slurred speech. However, the slurred speech is a consequence of his impairment. If the licensee is able to show that she did not know, and could not reasonably have been expected to know, that the customer was disabled, she has not subjected him to discrimination arising from his disability.

However, in the example above, if a reasonable person would have known that the behaviour was due to a disability, the licensee would have subjected the customer to discrimination arising from his disability, unless she could show that ejecting him was a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim.⁷

2.3 Reasonable adjustments for disabled people

The Act also creates a positive duty to anticipate the needs of, and make reasonable adjustments for, disabled people.

For example, in the context of services, the objective of the duty is to, so far as is reasonably practicable

approximate the access enjoyed by disabled people to that enjoyed by the rest of the public. The purpose of the duty to make reasonable adjustments is to provide access to a service as close as it is reasonably possible to get to the standard normally offered to the public at large⁸

The duty is contained in <u>section 20</u> and comprises three requirements. The requirements are to 'take such steps **as it is reasonable to have to take**' to:

⁶ Equality and Human Rights Commission, Services, public functions and associations - Statutory Code Practice, 2011, p84

⁷ Equality Act 2010 Explanatory Notes, para 70

Equality and Human Rights Commission, <u>Statutory Code of Practice - Services</u>, <u>public functions and associations</u>, 2011, p90

- avoid putting disabled people at a substantial disadvantage where a provision, criterion or practice would put them at that disadvantage compared with people who are not disabled
 - for example, adjusting a 'no dogs' policy for visually impaired people
- remove, alter or provide means of avoiding physical features where those features put disabled people at a substantial disadvantage compared with people who are not disabled
 - for example, providing a wheelchair ramp alongside stairs
- provide an auxiliary aid where disabled people would, but for the provision of that aid, be put at a substantial disadvantage in comparison with people who are not disabled
 - for example, providing an induction loop for hearing impaired people.

What is deemed to be reasonable will depend on the circumstances. The Equality and Human Rights Commission has identified the following potentially relevant factors:

- whether taking the step would be effective
- the extent to which it is practicable
- the financial and other costs of making the adjustment
- the availability of the necessary financial and other resources
- the extent of any disruption which taking the steps would cause
- the amount of any resources already spent on making adjustments.9

Ultimately, the only way to determine for certain whether any adjustment would be reasonable to have to make is for a court to decide the issue.

The law on reasonable adjustments is discussed further in the Library research briefing on disability discrimination.¹⁰

Equality and Human Rights Commission, <u>Statutory Code of Practice - Services</u>, <u>public functions and associations</u>, 2011, pp97-98

Disability discrimination, Commons Library briefing, CBP 9061

2.4 Harassment and victimisation

The Equality Act also prohibits harassment and victimisation.

Harassment is defined as engaging in unwanted conduct related to a protected characteristic, which has the effect of violating a person's dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that person. The Act's Explanatory Notes provide examples of this:

- A white worker who sees a black colleague being subjected to racially abusive language could have a case of harassment if the language also causes an offensive environment for her.
- An employer who displays any material of a sexual nature, such as a topless calendar, may be harassing her employees where this makes the workplace an offensive place to work for any employee, female or male.
- A shopkeeper propositions one of his shop assistants. She rejects his advances and then is turned down for promotion which she believes she would have got if she had accepted her boss's advances. The shop assistant would have a claim of harassment.¹²

Victimisation is defined as subjecting an individual to detriment because they have done a 'protected act' (or in the belief that they have). ¹³ Broadly, the protected acts are acts relating to bringing a claim under the Equality Act or alleging a person has contravened the Act. For example:

A gay man sues a publican for persistently treating him less well than heterosexual customers. Because of this, the publican bars him from the pub altogether. This would be victimisation.¹⁴

¹¹ Section 26

Equality Act 2010 Explanatory Notes, para 99

^{13 &}lt;u>Section 27</u>

¹⁴ Equality Act 2010 Explanatory Notes, para 103

2.5 The Public Sector Equality Duty

The Public Sector Equality Duty is contained in <u>Part 11</u> of the Act and related regulations. The Duty consolidates and replaces equality duties in previous legislation, including the disability equality duty in <u>section 49A</u> of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995.

The main duty is set out in <u>section 149</u> of the Act. Under section 149 public authorities must, in the exercise of their functions, 'have due regard to the need to':

- eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by the Act
- advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who don't
- foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who don't.¹⁵

The Act does not identify what is meant by the phrase 'have due regard'. However, the term has been considered extensively by the courts.

Broadly, the principles that emerge from the case law are:

- the duty concerns the impact of a proposal on all persons with protected characteristics and on any class of persons within a protected category who might clearly be adversely affected
- it is not a question of ticking boxes, the duty must be approached in substance, with rigour and with an open mind
- the duty must be fulfilled both before and during consideration of a particular policy
- the public authority does not have to refer expressly to the duty whilst exercising a public function
- decision-makers must be aware of the duty
- the duty is non-delegable
- it is good practice for an authority to keep a record showing that it has considered the identified needs
- it is for the decision maker to decide what weight to give to the equality implications of the decision.¹⁶

¹⁵ Equality Act 2010, section 149(1)

See: <u>R (Brown) v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2008] EWHC 3158, Bracking v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2013] EWCA Civ 1345</u>

In a leading Court of Appeal case, Lord Justice McCombe summarised the effect of the Duty and its rationale:

It seems to have been the intention of Parliament that these considerations ... are now to be placed at the centre of formulation of policy by all public authorities, side by side with all other pressing circumstances of whatever magnitude.

It is for this reason that advance consideration has to be given to these issues and they have to be an integral part of the mechanisms of government.... There is a need for a "conscious approach" and the duty must be exercised "in substance, with rigour and with an open mind" ... In the absence of evidence of a "structured attempt to focus upon the details of equality issues" ... a decision maker is likely to be in difficulties if his or her subsequent decision is challenged.¹⁷

In addition to the general Duty, some public bodies are subject to specific duties and are required to report on various equality matters. The duties differ across the devolved nations. This is discussed further in the Library's briefing on the Public Sector Equality Duty. 18

Equality Impact Assessments

It is important for public authorities to record the steps they've taken to meet the Duty. Aside from this helping the authority to comply with the Duty in practice, it would also be an important evidential requirement should the authority be challenged in court for failing to comply with the Duty.

One of the ways (but not the only way) an authority can demonstrate this, is through carrying out an equality impact assessment. This is discussed further in the aforementioned <u>Library briefing</u>.

Stuart Bracking & Ors v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2013] EWCA Civ 1345, para 60-61

The Public Sector Equality Duty and Equality Impact Assessments, Commons Library briefing, SN06591

The Equality and Human Rights Commission

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) replaced the Equal Opportunities Commission, Commission for Racial Equality and the Disability Rights Commission with a single equality body. It is a non-departmental public body in England, Wales and (in part) Scotland, responsible for monitoring compliance with the Equality Act 2010.¹⁹

Equality law is devolved in Northern Ireland; Northern Ireland has a separate Equality Commission.²⁰

The EHRC is not responsible for enforcing the provisions of the Equality Act 2010. Individuals enforce their own rights through the courts. However, the EHRC can intervene strategically in litigation to develop equality law, and has a range of enforcement powers at its disposal.

3.1 EHRC duties

The EHRC is a statutory body, with statutory duties, established by the Equality Act 2006 (the 2006 Act). ²¹ Broadly, the 2006 Act requires the EHRC to promote and encourage the understanding of - and good practice in relation to - equality and human rights.

<u>Section 3</u> of the 2006 Act contains the EHRC's 'general duty', which requires the EHRC to encourage and support the development of a society in which:

- people's ability to achieve their potential is not limited by prejudice or discrimination
- there is respect for and protection of each individual's human rights
- there is respect for the dignity and worth of each individual
- each individual has an equal opportunity to participate in society
- there is mutual respect between groups based on understanding and valuing of diversity and on shared respect for equality and human rights.

It shares a remit with the <u>Scottish Human Rights Commission</u>, established by the <u>Scottish Commission for Human Rights Act 2006</u>

²⁰ Equality Commission for Northern Ireland website [accessed 3 February 2022]

²¹ See section 3

The EHRC must also monitor the law and progress towards development of a society that reflects these values.²²

3.2 Powers

As noted, the EHRC is not responsible for the enforcement of equality rights at an individual level. As with most other legal rights, it falls to individuals to exercise their rights through the courts. The EHRC typically uses its powers at an institutional level; for example, agreeing new policies with a large company to avoid future discriminatory conduct.

The EHRC's powers are set out in the 2006 Act, and include the following:

- formal inquiries
- formal investigations
- issuance of unlawful act notices
- a power to enter into agreements with parties by which the party undertakes not to commit an unlawful act
- legal proceedings to prevent or restrain unlawful acts
- claims for judicial review
- assessing compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty
- issuance of compliance notices.²³

3.3 Accountability

The EHRC accounts to Parliament through the Minister for Women and Equalities. For example, it sends a copy of its annual report to the Minister, who then lays it before Parliament.²⁴

3.4 Codes of practice

Under <u>section 14</u> of the 2006 Act, the Commission may issue codes of practice 'in connection with any matter addressed by the Equality Act 2010'. The codes of practice are <u>available on the EHRC website</u>, and provide a detailed overview of the application of the Equality Act 2010 in relation to <u>employment</u>, <u>services and public functions</u>, and <u>equal pay</u>. ²⁵

Equality Act 2006, sections 11-12

²³ See: Equality Act 2006, Part 1; and EHRC website: <u>Enforcement powers</u> [accessed 3 February 2022]

²⁴ See Equality Act 2006, Schedule 1 Part 2, para 32

²⁵ Equality Act codes of practice, EHRC website [accessed 3 February 2022]

4 Equality policy

The Office for Equality and Opportunity (OEO), previously the "Equality Hub", leads on equality policy. The OEO's priorities include ensuring that equality and opportunity are embedded throughout the government's work and improving the quality of evidence and data on equality.²⁶

Within the OEO are the Women and Equalities Unit, the Disability Unit, and the Race Equality Unit.

4.1 Women and Equalities Unit (formerly the Government Equalities Office)

The Women and Equalities Unit (WEU) leads work on policy relating to gender equality, LGBT+ people, and the overall framework of equality legislation in the UK.²⁷

The WEU's website lists its current priorities as:

- delivering the equalities legislation set out in the King's Speech including equality measures in the Employment Rights Bill and the draft Conversion Practices Bill.
- delivering on the government's manifesto commitments in relation to LGBT+ people including improving the Gender Recognition Act, whilst maintaining the single-sex spaces exceptions in the Equality Act.
- addressing the discrimination and inequalities that LGBT+ people face.
- tackling violence against women and girls, in partnership with the Home Office, FCDO and others.
- promoting women's equality including tackling misogyny, making work pay and eliminating the gender pay gap.

²⁶ Gov.uk, 'Office for Equality and Opportunity', accessed 20 November 2024

²⁷ Gov.uk, 'Women and Equalities Unit', accessed 20 November 2024

• championing the rights of British citizens abroad and using our influence to promote international equality.

Ministers

The Minister for Women and Equalities is responsible for the following:

- promoting equality of opportunity for everyone, and reducing negative disparities
- strategic oversight of Government's equality policy, for women, ethnicity and LGBT
- sponsorship of the Social Mobility Commission and Equality and Human Rights Commission
- overview of the overarching equalities legislative framework, including the Equality Act. 28

The current role holder is Bridget Phillipson who was appointed Secretary of State for Education on 5 July 2024 and Minister for Women and Equalities on 8 July 2024.

The Minister of State for Women and Equalities is responsible for the following (some of which overlap with the responsibilities of the Minister for Women and Equalities):

- the overall framework
- legislation including on women, disability, LGBT+ and race
- policy on women, LGBT+ and race
- sponsorship of the Equality and Human Rights Commission
- equality data and analysis
- international work on women, LGBT+ and race.²⁹

The current role holder is Anneliese Dodds, who is Minister for Development at the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office.

There are two "Minister for Equality" roles at the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State level both of which are dual roles held by ministers in other departments. The first of these roles, currently held by Nia Griffith, has responsibility for LGBT+ legislation including on conversion practices and

²⁸ Gov.uk, '<u>Minister for Women and Equalities</u>', accessed 20 November 2024

²⁹ Gov.uk, 'Women and Equalities Unit', accessed 20 November 2024

LGBT+ policy.³⁰ The second, held by Seema Malhotra, is responsible for race and ethnicity elements in equality legislation and race and ethnicity policy.³¹

There are two Lords spokespeople for equalities, namely Rt Hon Baroness Smith of Malvern and Lord Collins of Highbury.³²

4.2 The Disability Unit (previously 'Office for Disability Issues')

The Disability Unit aims to break down the barriers faced by disabled people in the UK and to work across government to improve disabled people's lives.

The Disability Unit's website lists its current priorities as:

- delivering the draft Equality (Race and Disability) Bill, as set out in the King's Speech
- ensuring that disabled people's views and voices are at the heart of everything the government does – we will do this by building and maintaining relationships with disabled people and their organisations, stakeholders and colleagues across government, and using disabled people's insights to drive real change
- continuing to promote British Sign Language (BSL) and the implementation of the BSL Act 2022, including by supporting the BSL Advisory Board
- improving the quality of evidence and data and using it, including disabled people's lived experience, to support policies and how they are delivered
- ensuring that UK disability policy and disabled people are represented on international platforms, and promoting better understanding of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities across government.

³⁰ Gov.uk, 'Parliamentary Under Secretary of State', accessed 20 November 2024

³¹ Gov.uk, 'Seema Malhotra MP' accessed 20 November 2024

³² UK Parliament, 'Spokespersons in the House of Lords', accessed 20 November 2024

³³ Gov.uk, 'Disability Unit', accessed 20 November 2024

Ministers

The Minister of State (Minister for Social Security and Disability) is responsible for:

- Disability policy and cross-government responsibility for disabled people
- Universal Credit and legacy benefits delivery
- Contributory benefits, Personal Independence Payment,
 Disability Living Allowance and Employment Support Allowance
- Carer's Allowance
- Housing
- Arm's length body: Health and Safety Executive
- Serious Case Panel
- Uprating and benefit cap
- Oversight of Disability Unit, including disability elements in equality legislation and international lead on disability.³⁴

The current role holder is Stephen Timms.

4.3 Race Equality Unit

The Race Equality Unit (REU) aims to tackle racial and ethnic inequalities – through legislation, policy and data.

The REU's website lists its priorities as:

- Developing and delivering the draft Equality (Race and Disability) Bill and wider cross-government actions to address race and ethnic inequalities
- Collecting, analysing and publishing government data on the experiences of people from different ethnic backgrounds on <u>Ethnicity facts and figures</u>—an open source of data on race and ethnicity.³⁵

³⁴ Gov.uk, 'Minister of State (Minister for Social Security and Disability)', accessed 20 November 2024

³⁵ Gov.uk, 'Race Equality Unit', accessed 20 November 2024

The Permanent Under-Secretary of State (Minister of Equalities) is responsible for race and ethnicity elements in equality legislation and race and ethnicity policy.³⁶ The current role holder is Seema Malhotra.

³⁶ Gov.uk, '<u>Seema Malhotra MP</u>' accessed 20 November 2024

The House of Commons Library is a research and information service based in the UK Parliament. Our impartial analysis, statistical research and resources help MPs and their staff scrutinise legislation, develop policy, and support constituents.

Our published material is available to everyone on commonslibrary.parliament.uk.

Get our latest research delivered straight to your inbox. Subscribe at commonslibrary.parliament.uk/subscribe or scan the code below:



commonslibrary.parliament.uk



@commonslibrary